AUG 0 1 2013

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By No. 314162-III

RECEIVED

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

AUG 01 2013 REED & GIESA, P.S.

WASHINGTON MOTORSPORTS LIMITED,

Respondent,

VS.

SPOKANE RACEWAY PARK, INC.,

And

SUSAN ROSS, TERRY and BRYAN GRAHAM, and THE MEADOWS AT DRY CREEK, LLC,

Appellants.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF (Second Corrected)

RICHARD D. WALL, #16581 Attorney for Appellant

Richard D. Wall, P.S. 221 W. Main Avenue, Suite 200 Spokane, WA 99201 (509) 747-5646

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Appellant's Motion to Intervene Because

Appellants Have a Direct Interest In the Outcome of the Action and Their Interests are

Not Adequately Represented by Any Party.

ISSUE: Whether a person other than the judgment debtor has a right to intervene under Civil Rule 24 in support of a motion to set aside a judgment when the judgment is being used to execute against the person's property in a separate action.

The Trial Court Erred by Denying the Moe's Motion to Vacate Because the Trial
 Court Lacked Authority to Award Remedial Sanctions Ordered Under RCW
 7.26.030(2)(b) as a Judgment in Favor of WML.

ISSUE: Whether RCW 7.21.030(2)(b) authorizes a court to impose a forfeiture of up to \$2,000 per day against a non-party for civil contempt and then award that amount as a judgment in favor of a party in addition to ordering payment for losses incurred by the party as a result of the contempt.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of an action originally brought by several limited partners in Washington Motorsports Limited ("WML") against the general partner, Spokane

Raceway Park ("SRP"). A receiver was appointed, and Orville Moe, the president of SRP, was ordered to cooperate with the receiver and provide certain documents.

Ultimately, the trial court held Mr. Moe in contempt and issued an order imposing sanctions in the amount of \$1,000 per day for each day he failed to provide the requested documents.

On February 8, 2008, the trial court entered an order assessing \$341,000 in remedial sanctions against Moe for continuing contempt from December 8, 2006 to November 14, 2007. CP 5. The trial court also entered orders requiring Moe to pay WML's attorney fees and costs incurred in connection with various motions regarding the contempt proceedings. Moe appealed those orders, claiming that the multiple sanctions imposed by the court were overly harsh and amounted to punishment for criminal contempt. Appendix, p. 7. Moe also argued that the sanctions amounted to a form of punishment and were excessive. Appendix, p. 9-10. In an unpublished decision, this Court upheld the \$341,000.00 in remedial sanctions as being within the authority granted under RCW 7.21.010(2)(b). Appendix, p. 10-11. The Court reasoned that the sanction of \$1,000 per day was remedial and not punitive because Moe had the ability to end the sanction by complying with the trial court's order to produce documents. Appendix, p. 10. Thus, the contempt sanction was civil in nature, and Moe was not entitled to the additional procedural protections necessary to sustain punitive sanctions for criminal contempt. Appendix, p. 8.

On September 19, 2008, after Moe had filed his appeal from the contempt order, the trial court entered a "Final Judgment Against Orville Moe RE: Contempt Orders."

CP 1. The judgment awarded a total of \$373,626.10 to WML based upon the court's

previous contempt orders, including the order imposing remedial sanctions of \$1,000 per day for the ongoing contempt. CP 5. The judgment also included awards of \$17,656.85, \$4,026.50 and \$10,942.75 in attorney fees and costs to WML relating to motions brought by WML. CP 1-7.

Moe was found in contempt a second time for failing to comply with discovery orders and was sanctioned at the rate of \$2,000 per day for a continuing contempt. On June 21, 2011, a second judgment was entered by the trial court awarding a total of \$751,640.00 as sanctions against Orville and Deonne Moe. CP 8-14. The total of the judgment included \$730,000 as a forfeiture for 365 days at \$2,000 per day pursuant to RCW 7.26.030(2)(b), plus \$21,640.00 for attorneys fees and costs incurred by WML in bringing motions relating to the contempt. CP 12.

A third judgment for contempt sanctions was entered on August 23, 2012, in the total amount of \$704,000.00. CP 51-55. Again, the judgment was entered against both Mr. and Mrs. Moe as a community despite the absence of any findings that Deonne Moe had committed any contempt, and in favor of WML. Included in the judgment total was \$88,000.00 for 44 days of continuing contempt at \$2,000 per day pursuant to RCW 7.26.030(2)(b) and an additional \$616,000.00 as an "interim quantification of the

¹ The second judgment was entered against Orville and Deonne Moe as a community despite the absence of any finding by the trial court holding Deonne Moe in contempt. The judgment included the following language, however: "A debt incurred during marriage is presumed to be a community obligation; the burden of proving that a debt is not a community obligation rests on the community. [citation omitted] Neither Orville Moe nor Deonne Moe has rebutted that presumption. As such, the \$730,000.00 in remedial sanctions entered herein are against Orville Moe and the community property of Orville Moe and Deonne Moe." The record fails to show that Deonne Moe was given notice that her interest in community property could be at risk as a result of her husband's contempt, and the trial court did not find that she had the ability to comply with the court's discovery orders or otherwise purge the finding of contempt against her husband.

remedial sanctions already ordered by this Court" at the rate of \$2,000 per day pursuant to RCW 7.26.030(2)(b). CP 53-55. At the time the third judgment was entered, the Moes were no longer represented by counsel.

On March 14, 2012, WML filed an action against Susan Ross, Terry and Bryan Graham, The Meadows at Dry Creek, LLC, and Orville and Deonne Moe seeking damages and other relief under Washington's Uniform Fraudulent Conveyance Act ("UFTA"). CP 15-42. In that action, WML seeks to obtain writs execution against property held by Ms. Ross, Mr. and Mrs. Graham, and The Meadows at Dry Creek, LLC, in order to collect on the judgments obtained against Orville and Deonne Moe. Those judgments now total more than 1.8 million dollars.

On November 19, 2012, Orville and Deonne Moe moved pursuant to Civil Rule 60 to vacate the judgments in favor of WML. CP 56-60. Hearing on the motion was set for January 18, 2013. On December 31, 2012, Appellants moved to intervene pursuant to Civil Rule 24. CP 61-65. Hearing on the motion to intervene was set for the same day and time as hearing on the motion to vacate. In their motion, Appellants argued that they had an interest in the outcome of the motion to vacate because the pending UFTA action against them depended on the validity of the judgments against the Mr. and Mrs. Moe. CP 63-64.

At the hearing on January 18, 2013, the trial court first heard argument from counsel for Appellants and for WML on the motion to intervene. RP 3-11. The court then denied the motion. RP 12. In denying Appellants' motion to intervene, the trial court stated that Appellants lacked "standing" under CR 24 and that, even if they had standing, their interests were adequately represented by the Moes. RP 12-13.

The trial court then proceeded to hear argument on the motion to vacate, but only allowed the Moes, who appeared pro se, to present argument in favor of the motion. RP 13-31. In his motion and at the hearing, Moe argued that RCW 7.21.010(2) did not authorize a forfeiture of up to \$2,000 per day to be entered as a judgment in favor of a party, rather than as a fine payable to the court. CP 56; RP 14. In denying the Moes' motion the trial court did not address that argument. Instead, the court merely concluded that it had subject matter jurisdiction to enter the orders and to impose remedial sanctions for contempt, therefore, the judgments were not void. RP 32-33.

On January 30, 2013, the Moes timely filed their Notice of Appeal from the denial of the motion to vacate the judgments. CP 123. The following day, Appellants timely filed their Notice of Appeal from the order denying their motion to intervene. CP 130. On February 25, 2013, Appellant's moved to consolidate the two appeals. A ruling on the motion to consolidate was deferred pending the submission of briefs by the parties.

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

The denial of intervention as of right under CR 24(a)(2) is reviewed for error in applying the law to the facts (de novo review). *Westerman v. Cary*, 125 Wn.2d 277, 302, 892 P.2d 1067 (1995). In determining whether error occurred in the denial of a motion to intervene, the appellate court accepts the well pleaded allegations of the moving party as being true. *Id.*, at 303. Denial of permissive intervention under CR 24(b)(2) is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Id.*, at 304.

Denial of a CR 60(b) motion to vacate judgment is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *DeYoung v. Cenex Ltd.*, 100 Wash.App. 885, 1 P.3d 587 (2000), *review denied*, 146 Wash.2d 1016, 51 P.3d 87 (2002).

IV. ARGUMENT

1. Appellants Had a Right to Intervene Under CR 24(a)(2) Because the Trial Court's Ruling on the Moes' Motion to Vacate the Judgments has a Direct Impact on the Action Against Appellants Under the Uniform Fraudulent Transfers Act ("UFTA") and Appellant's Interest was Not Adequately Represented by the Moes.

CR 24(a) provides:

Upon timely application anyone shall be permitted to intervene in and action: (1) when a statute confers an unconditional right to intervene; or (2) when the applicant claims and interest relating to the property or transaction which is the subject of the action and he is so situated that the disposition of the action may as a practical matter impair or impede his ability to protect that interest, unless the applicant's interest is adequately represented by existing parties.

Under CR 24(a)(2), the following four requirement must be met in order for a person to have a right to intervene in an action: (1) the application for intervention is timely made; (2) the applicant claims an interest in the subject of the action; (3) the applicant is situated such that disposition will impair or impede the applicant's ability to protect that interest; and (4) the applicant' interest is not adequately represented by the existing parties. Westerman v. Cary, 125 Wn. At 303.

The meaning of "interest" for purposes of CR 24(a)(2) is to be broadly interpreted on a case-by-case basis. *Id.* The interest must be one that is recognized by law and "be of such direct and immediate character that the intervener will either gain or lose by the

direct legal operation and effect of the judgment." *Id., quoting, In re J.H.*, 117 Wn.2d 460, 468, 815 P.2d 1380 (1991).

Here, Appellants clearly meet all of the requirements for intervention as of right under CR 24(a)(2).

First, the motion to intervene was filed after the Moes had filed their motion to vacate the judgments pursuant to CR 60 and more than two weeks prior to the hearing on the motion to vacate. Thus the motion was timely filed. *See, River Park Square, LLC v. Miggins*, 143 Wn.2d 79-80, 68, 17 P.3d 1178 (2001)(holding that CR 24 motion filed on same day as hearing on matter for which intervention was sought was not timely).

Second, Appellants clearly have an interest in the subject of the action seeking to vacate the judgments. The UFTA action that has been brought against Appellants is entirely dependent on those judgments. If the judgments are vacated, the UFTA action cannot go forward. Thus, Appellants' interest in the subject of action is both direct and immediate, and Appellants will either gain or lose by the direct legal operation and effect of any final ruling on the motion to vacate.

Third, the Appellants' ability to protect their interest in seeing the judgments vacated will be impaired, if not entirely foreclosed, by a final disposition upholding the judgments because Appellants will be left with only the possibility of collaterally attacking those judgments in the UFTA action.

Finally, Appellants' interest is not adequately represented by any existing party.

The Moes were not represented by counsel in the trial court and have not been represented by counsel since at least August 23, 2012. The motion filed by the Moes and Mr. Moe's presentation at the hearing demonstrate that they have only a very limited

understanding of the law and issues relating to the motion to vacate. The Moes are clearly not capable of adequately representing their own interest in this case, let alone the interests of others.

Rather than arguing to the trial court that Appellants did not meet the requirements of CR 24(a)(2) or (b)(2), WML argued that Appellants lacked "standing" to intervene because a non-party cannot move to vacate a judgment under CR 60. WML cited *In re Estate of Finch*, 172 Wn.App. 156, 294 P.3d 1 (2012) in support of that position. Lack of standing as a party to an action generally does not affect standing to intervene in the action. *See, Crosby v. County of Spokane*, 137 Wn.2d 296, 312, 971 P.2d 32 (1999). Thus, the efficacy of the holding in *Finch* is questionable.

In any event, *Finch* is inapplicable here. Appellants did not move to vacate the judgments against Mr. and Mrs. Moe. The Moes did. WML does not claim that the Moes lacked standing to move to vacate the judgments, even though the Moes have never been made parties to the action. The judgments at issue here were not entered on the basis of claims made by WML against the Moes as opposing parties, but were based solely on findings of contempt of court by Mr. Moe for failing to obey the court's discovery orders. If the holding of *Finch* is applied literally as urged by WML, then even the Moes would be precluded from seeking to vacate the judgments pursuant to CR 60, since they are not "parties" to the action between WML and Spokane Raceway Park, Inc.

Moreover, *Finch* is inapplicable here because Appellants moved to intervene only after the Moes filed their motion to vacate the judgments. The filing of that motion created an action in which Appellants have an interest with respect to the outcome.

WML's argument that Appellants lack "standing" to intervene because they are not

parties is entirely circular; i.e., because Appellants are not parties, they lack standing to become parties by intervening under CR 24, regardless of whether they have a legitimate interest in the action.

The whole purpose of CR 24 is to allow created an action in which Appellants have an interest with respect to the outcome. WML's argument that Appellants lack "standing" to intervene because they are not parties is entirely circular; i.e., because Appellants are not parties, they lack standing to become parties by intervening under CR 24, regardless of whether they have a legitimate interest in the action. persons who are not parties but who have an interest in the outcome of an action, to become parties and thereby participate in the action in order to protect that interest. Contrary to that purpose, the trial court denied Appellants' motion to intervene solely on the grounds that Appellants lacked "standing" under Rule 60 to bring the motion in the first instance. RP, p. 11. In doing so, the trial court committed an error of law.

2. The Trial Court Erred by Denying Appellants to Intervene by Permission Under CR 24(b)(2).

CR 24(b)(a) provides that "anyone" may be permitted to intervene in an action upon timely application when the "applicant's claim or defense and the main action have a question of law or fact in common." In exercising its discretion to allow permissive intervention, the court "shall consider whether the intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the rights of the original parties."

Here the trial court failed to exercise any discretion under CR(b)(2). In denying intervention, the trial court relied solely on its conclusion that Appellants did not have "standing" to intervene. The trial court did not consider whether any claim or defense the

Appellants had in the UFTA action had any question of law or fact in common with the present action. Yet, there are clearly common questions of both law and fact with regard to whether the judgments are valid. If the judgments are not valid as against Mr. and Mrs. Moe, then those same judgments cannot form the basis of an action against Appellants under UFTA. Therefore, the trial court was required under CR 24(b)(2) to exercise discretion in permitting Appellants to intervene unless there was some reason not to allow intervention.

Specifically, the trial court was required to consider whether intervention would unduly delay or prejudice the rights of the existing parties. The court did not engage in any such consideration and there is no basis from which the trial court could have concluded that intervention would result in any delay or prejudice to any party.

Appellants had timely filed their motion to intervene so that the hearing on that motion could be held at the same time as the hearing on the Moes motion to vacate the judgments. The motion to intervene was properly filed and served on all interested parties, stated the grounds for the motion, and was accompanied by a memorandum setting forth Appellants' position with respect to the motion to vacate, as required by CR(c). Granting Appellant's permissive intervention would not have resulted in any delay or prejudice to any party. The trial court abused its discretion by failing grant Appellants intervention by permission.

3. The Judgments Against Mr. and Mrs. Moe are Void Insofar as they Award Monetary Damages in Favor of WML Based Solely Upon a Forfeiture Imposed Pursuant to RCW 7.21.030(2)(b).

CR 60(b)(5) provides that a court may order relief from a judgment that is "void." Generally, the trial court exercises discretion when ruling on a motion to vacate under CR 60. However, a motion to vacate a judgment made pursuant to CR 60(b)(5) must be granted if it is shown that the judgment is void. *Summers v. Dept. of Revenue*, 104 Wn.App. 87, 90, 14 P.3d 902 (2001), *citing, In Re Marriage of Leslie*, 112 Wn.2d 612, 618-19, 772 P.2d 1013 (1989).

A judgment is void if the court lacked authority to enter it. *Id.*, *citing Bresolin v.*Morris, 86 Wn.2d 241, 245, 543 P.2d 325 (1975), supplemented, 88 Wn.2d 167, 558 P.2d 1013 (1989). A judgment or order entered pursuant to a statue is void if it exceeds the authority granted by the statute or otherwise exceeds the court's inherent authority. See, Summers v. Dept. of Revenue, 104 Wn.App. at 89-92 (order extending tax liens not void because extension was authorized by statute); see also, Marriage of Leslie, 112 Wn.2d 612-17 (judgment entered in excess of or substantially different from relief requested in compliant is void).

RCW 7.21.030 provides as follows:

- (1) The court may initiate a proceeding to impose a remedial sanction on its own motion or on the motion of a person aggrieved by a contempt of court in the proceeding to which the contempt is related. Except as provided in RCW 7.21.050, the court, after notice and hearing, may impose a remedial sanction authorized by this chapter.
- (2) If the court finds that the person has failed or refused to perform an act that is yet within the person's power to perform, the court may find the person in contempt of court and impose one or more of the following remedial sanctions:
- (a) Imprisonment if the contempt of court is of a type defined in RCW 7.21.010(1) (b) through (d). The imprisonment may extend only so long as it serves a coercive purpose.

- (b) A forfeiture not to exceed two thousand dollars for each day the contempt of court continues.
 - (c) An order designed to ensure compliance with a prior order of the court.
- (d) Any other remedial sanction other than the sanctions specified in (a) through (c) of this subsection if the court expressly finds that those sanctions would be ineffectual to terminate a continuing contempt of court.
- (e) In cases under chapters 13.32A, 13.34, and 28A.225 RCW, commitment to juvenile detention for a period of time not to exceed seven days. This sanction may be imposed in addition to, or as an alternative to, any other remedial sanction authorized by this chapter. This remedy is specifically determined to be a remedial sanction.
- (3) The court may, in addition to the remedial sanctions set forth in subsection (2) of this section, order a person found in contempt of court to pay a party for any losses suffered by the party as a result of the contempt and any costs incurred in connection with the contempt proceeding, including reasonable attorney's fees.
- (4) If the court finds that a person under the age of eighteen years has willfully disobeyed the terms of an order issued under chapter 10.14 RCW, the court may find the person in contempt of court and may, as a sole sanction for such contempt, commit the person to juvenile detention for a period of time not to exceed seven days.

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