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

⁹ The trial court also entered amended orders and final judgments denying Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate and Ross *et al.*'s Motion to Intervene for the purpose of adding CR 54(b) certifications. (CP 341-43, 344-47)

intervention will unduly delay or prejudice the adjudication of the rights of the original parties.

CR 24 (emphasis added).

"Where [as here] a person seeks to intervene after judgment, the court should allow intervention only upon a strong showing after considering all circumstances, including prior notice, prejudice to the other parties, and reasons for and length of the delay." *Kreidler v. Eikenberry*, 111 Wn.2d 828, 832-33 (1989)

Permissive intervention is wholly discretionary with the trial court. Spokane County v. State ex rel. Public Employments Relations Comm'n, 136 Wn.2d 644, 650 (1998). A trial court abuses its discretion only when no reasonable person would take the position adopted by the trial court. Id. (Citations omitted). An appellate court reviews ruling on intervention as a matter of right de novo. DeLong v. Parmelee, 157 Wn. App. 119, 163 (2010)(remanded on other grounds). But a trial court's evaluation of timeliness (required for permissive of matter of right intervention) is reviewed for abuse of discretion. Id. at 164. The trial court can be affirmed on any basis supported by the record. Deveny v. Hadaller, 139 Wn. App. 605, 616 (2007).

Although the final judgment has not yet been entered in WML's Receivership case, the three judgments Ross sought to vacate was each final pursuant to CR 54(b) certifications. (CP 4-6, 13-14, and 54-55)

ii. Because the trial court properly denied Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate, the denial of Ross's Motion to Intervene has been rendered moot and/or the denial thereof was harmless (even if error).

"An appeal is moot where it presents merely academic questions and where this court can no longer provide effective relief." *In re Detention of M.K.*, 168 Wn. App. 621, 625 (2012). In addition, "no judgment shall be reversed or affected by reason of [harmless] error...." RCW 4.36.240; *see also, e.g., Public Utility Dist. No. 1 v. Washington Public Power Sys.*, 104 Wn.2d 353, 381 (1985). A harmless error is an error which does "not affect the substantial rights of the adverse party...." *Id.* "[E]rror is not prejudicial unless, within reasonable probabilities, had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected." *State v. Cunningham*, 93 Wn.2d 823, 831 (1980). "In the absence of prejudice, even reviewable error is not reversible." *State v. Morgan*, 3 Wn. App. 470, 475 (1970)(citing, *inter alia*, RCW 4.36.240). Erroneous reasoning by a court in reaching the correct decision is harmless error. *Hill v. Corbett*, 33 Wn.2d. 219, 223 (1949).

Although the trial court denied Ross's Motion to Intervene which sought to permit her lawyer to orally argue the merits of her "joinder" in Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate Judgments, as demonstrated below, because the trial court properly denied Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate, Ross's Motion to Intervene is rendered moot and/or the trial court's denial of that Motion is harmless (even if error). Even if this Court were to find that the trial court

erred in denying Ross's Motion to Intervene (which WML disputes),
remanding this matter to allow Ross to argue her joinder in Mr. Moe's Motion
to Vacate would be futile.

As such, if this Court finds that the trial court properly denied Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate (*see* Section 6.B., *infra*), then it need not even reach the issue of whether the trial court erred in denying Ross's Motion to Intervene, because that issue will then be moot as only involving an academic question, and/or would be harmless (even if error). WML demonstrates below, nevertheless, that the trial court did not commit error in denying Ross's Motion to Intervene.

iii. Ross lacked standing to intervene to seek vacation of judgments to which she is not a judgment debtor.

It has been the law of Washington for over 100 years that a non-party cannot intervene into a case to seek to vacate a judgment to which they are not a judgment debtor. *State ex rel. McConihe v. Steiner*, 58 Wash. 578, 582 (1910) (applying the predecessor to CR 60). A court can only "relieve a party from a judgment...." *Id.* (Emphasis added). Such a motion must be made "on application of a party to the record adversely affected by the judgment." *Id.* (Emphasis added). "It is nowhere even intimated that a stranger to the record or the court on its own motion might make the application." *Id.*

The pronouncements set forth in *McConihe* were affirmed by Division III over 15 years ago in *Thomas v. Bremer*, 88 Wn. App. 728, 734 (1997). In *Thomas*, this Court held that CR 60(b) "authorizes the court to relieve a party

or its legal representative from a final judgment on motion. A stranger to the proceeding cannot ask the court to vacate its final judgment." *Thomas* at 734 (emphasis added)(citing *McConihe* at 582-83). On its face, CR 60(b) only confers standing upon "a party or his legal representative...." to seek vacation of a judgment.

These holdings were again recently affirmed at the end of last year by Division I in *Cassell v. Portelance*, 172 Wn. App. 156 (2012). That case holds that "[a]s an avenue of relief from a final judgment or order, CR 60(b) is available only to a 'party'." *Id.* at 164. A non-party lacks standing to intervene to seek to vacate a judgment to which they are not a judgment debtor. *Id.* at 164-65.

Ross apparently does not dispute the holding of *Cassell*, but rather attempts to distinguish that decision based upon the fact that she did not seek to intervene to vacate the judgments against the Moes until after Mr. Moe first moved to vacate the judgments. This is a distinction without a difference. The relief sought by Ross was to intervene to vacate judgments to which she is not a judgment debtor. She lacks standing to seek that relief.

iv. Ross has no interest that is impaired or impeded by the Judgments against the Moes.

Along this same line, Ross lacks any "interest" that is "impair[ed] or impede[d]" by the Judgments against the Moes. CR 24(a). She is not a judgment debtor thereto. Her sole alleged interest relates to her defense of the UFTA case. She will, however, have a full and fair opportunity to defend the

merits of WML's UFTA action, and her defenses in that case are in no way impaired or impeded by the judgments.

v. Ross's Motion to Intervene was not timely

All applications to intervene, whether by right or by permission, must be timely. CR 24(a)-(b). The determination of what constitutes timely application rests within the trial court's discretion, and will be determined with reference to the facts and circumstances in a particular case. *DeLong v. Parmelee*, 157 Wn. App. 119, 164 (2010). When, as here, the applicant moves to intervene after judgment, the court will allow intervention only upon a strong showing of necessity after considering all the circumstances. *Kreidler v. Eikenberry*, 111 Wn.2d 828, 832-33 (1989).

Ross has known about each of the judgments since their respective entries (2008, 2011, and 2012). WML obtained orders to take Ms. Ross's supplemental proceedings deposition in aid of collection over a year before she moved to intervene (CP 312-16), and she was served with the UFTA lawsuit nearly a year before she moved to intervene. (CP 327-28, 329-30, 331-323) Specifically, she waited until December 31, 2012 to file that motion. (CP 61-65) She failed to make a "strong showing" of necessity under the circumstances.

In evaluating timeliness of motions to intervene after judgment has been entered, a court must also consider the "prejudice to the other parties...."

Kreidler at 833. Allowing intervention for the purpose of seeking to vacate

WML's judgments against the Moes would have been extremely prejudicial to WML. WML has already litigated and prevailed in the trial court and the court of appeals on the remedial sanctions relating to the 2008 Judgment. (CP 273-86 / Appendix 4). The 2011 Judgment was not opposed or appealed by the Moes. The 2012 Judgment is already currently under a separate appeal by the Moes. Division III Case No. 311317.¹¹ WML has already completed significant collection efforts relating to the 2008 and 2011 Judgments, including bank garnishments and executions on real property owned by the Moes. (CP 287-89, 290-92, 293-95, 296-98, 306-08, 309-11, 317-19)

Further, substantial disputes relating to such collection efforts have been resolved in the trial court and in this court. (CP 249-55, 256-62) (bench warrants); (CP 299-303) (Judgment against Mr. Shulkin); Division III Case No. 298728 (Mr. Shulkin's appeal); Division III Case No. 297926 (Terry-Lee's Appeal). Allowing Ross to intervene to seek to unwind years of legal work in the state and appeals courts would have worked an undue hardship upon WML.

vi. Ross's interest was adequately represented by the Moes.

Intervention as a matter of right is not available if the intervention applicant's interests are already adequately represented in the case. CR 24(a). Lack of adequate representation generally requires that interest is not currently

This is a different appeal than the Moes' "linked" appeal (Division III Case No. 314171) in which the Moes have appealed the trial court's denial of their Motion to Vacate.

represented at all. *E.g.*, *American Discount Corp. v. Saratoga West, Inc.*, 81 Wn.2d 34 (1972)(unsecured creditor not represented at all)).

It is important to reiterate that Ross was not moving to intervene to become a party in WML's Receivership case. She was simply moving to present her oral arguments as to why the judgments should be vacatednothing more. (CP 64) ("[T]he court should grant the motion ... to intervene in the present action for the purpose of joining in the Moe's [sic] Motion to Vacate judgment pursuant to CR 60.") Although Mr. Moe, pro se, cannot be expected to be as skilled as Ross's lawyer in presenting such arguments, Ross did file a brief on the CR 60(b)(5) issue (CP 66-73), and Mr. Moe submitted a brief on the issue (CP 56-60), and Mr. Moe argued the issue (RP 14, 16). Mr. Moe raised the precise arguments that Ross intended to raise if intervention was granted. Compare RP 14 (Mr. Moe's oral argument)("Judgments should be vacated because the statute does not allow the Court, any court, to impose a forfeiture as a sanction for a contempt and then award the money to a party. The forfeiture is payable only to the Court.") and Ross Brief, p.5¹² ("Moe argued that RCW 7.21.010(2) did not authorize a forfeiture of up to \$2,000 per day to be entered as a judgment in favor of a party, rather than as a fine payable to the court") with, e.g., (CP 70) (Ross's brief in support of Motion to Vacate) ("a remedial 'forfeiture' differs from money damages in that a forfeiture accrues only so long as the contempt

¹² Ross's "Second Corrected" Opening Brief was filed on or about August 1, 2013.

continues and is paid to the court, rather than to an aggrieved party."); see also See Ross Brief, p.15 ("While the court had authority under the statute to impose those amounts as remedial sanctions payable to the court, it did not have authority to award those amounts as money damages payable to WML.")

Ross's brief was essentially treated as amicus for the issues presented to the trial court. *Spokane County v. State ex rel. Public Employments Relations Comm'n*, 136 Wn.2d 644, 650 (1998)(denying intervention by permission and as a matter of right, but considering the applicant's brief as amicus). *See* RP 25-26 (referencing Ross's arguments on these issues). This is not a circumstance where Ross's arguments were never raised in the trial court because of alleged "lack of adequate representation." Ross's CR 60(b)(5) arguments were made by her in her brief, and WML specifically responded to those argument in its Memorandum in Opposition to Ross's Motion to Intervene (which was considered by the Court). (CP 77-80) Her arguments were also made by Mr. Moe in his brief and in oral argument, and Ross and Mr. Moe's interests were aligned in seeking vacation of the judgments. The trial court properly found that Ross's interest was adequately represented. RP 12.

Ross has not made any showing that the outcome of Mr. Moe's motion would likely have been any different if Ross's lawyer had been permitted to make oral argument. In fact, at least one Washington superior court does not

permit oral argument on many types of motions, and such motions are resolved strictly on the briefs. *See*, *e.g.*, King County LCR 7(b)(3).

vii. Intervention was futile, because the relief sought by Ross (to vacate the judgments as "void" under CR 60(b)(5) as allegedly beyond the trial court's authority) is clearly not permitted.

As demonstrated in Section 6.B.iii., *infra*, even when a trial court lacks statutory authority to act, its judgment is not void unless the trial court lacked personal jurisdiction over the person against whom judgment is entered or lacks subject matter jurisdiction to enter the judgment. Ross does not allege either. Her sole argument is that the judgments are void, because the trial court allegedly "exceeded its authority." (CP 70-71); see also generally Ross Brief, pp.10-15. That argument is meritless and could not support an order vacating the judgments at issue. Marley v. Department of Labor and Indus. of State of Wash., 125 Wn.2d 533, 539 (en banc 1994)("A court or agency does not lack subject matter jurisdiction solely because it may *lack authority* to enter a given order.")(Emphasis added); see also, e.g., In re Marriage of Buecking and Buecking, 167 Wn. App. 555, 559-60 (2012)("A court's alleged failure to operate within the statutory framework does not render its judgment void." "[F]ailure to observe a statutory [requirement] may be a legal error, but it does not result in loss of jurisdiction.")

For further discussion of this issue, please see Section 6.B.iii., infra.

B. The Trial Court Properly Denied Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate

As referenced above (Section 2, *supra*), Ross's appeal of the denial of Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate presents a bit of an unusual procedural posture (because she is appealing the denial of Mr. Moe's Motion for which she was denied intervention, and because that denial is on appeal by the Moes in a separate appeal). The following arguments on the propriety of the trial court's denial of Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate are offered, however, to demonstrate that because the trial court properly denied that Motion, Ross's Motion to Intervene is rendered moot and/or the trial court's denial of that Motion is harmless (even if error). *See* Section 6.A.ii, *supra*. The following is also offered in the event this Court otherwise considers the denial of Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate as a part of this appeal.

i. Standard of Review for Denials of Motions to Vacate

An appeal of an order denying a motion to vacate does not bring up for appeal the merits of the underlying judgment. *See* RAP 2.4(c); *see also State v. Gaut*, 111 Wn. App. 875, 881 (2002)("On review of an order denying a motion to vacate, only 'the propriety of the denial *not* the impropriety of the underlying judgment' is before the reviewing court." (Emphasis original)(Citation omitted).

Washington authority conflicts regarding whether an appeal of an order denying a motion to vacate a judgment as void under CR 60(b)(5) is reviewed for abuse of discretion or de novo. *E.,g., Kennedy v. Sundown*

Speed Marine, Inc., 97 Wn.2d 544, 548 (en banc 1982)(abuse of discretion standard of review); Morris v. Palouse River and Coulee City R.R., Inc., 149 Wn. App. 366, 372 (Div. III 2009)(abuse of discretion standard); Ahten v. Barnes, 158 Wn. App. 343, 350 (Div. I 2010)(de novo standard). The trial court can be affirmed on any basis supported by the record. Deveny v. Hadaller, 139 Wn. App. 605, 616 (2007).

As demonstrated below, under either standard of review, the trial court should be affirmed because this appeal is clearly frivolous and without merit under controlling and settled law.

ii. Ross lacks standing to seek to void the judgments under CR 60(b)(5)

Under longstanding, clear Washington law, a non-party lacks standing to seek to vacate a judgment to which they are not judgment debtors. *See* CR 60(b) ("the court may relieve a <u>party</u>")(emphasis added); *see also Cassell v. Portelance*, 172 Wn. App. 156, 164 (2012)("As an avenue of relief from a final judgment or order, CR 60(b) is available only to a 'party'."); *see also* Section 6.A.iii, *supra*.

iii. The Judgments are not Void under CR 60(b)(5), because the trial court had personal jurisdiction over the Moes and possessed subject matter jurisdiction to issue remedial sanctions.

Ross's sole argument in the trial court in support of Mr. Moe's Motion to Vacate was that the underlying judgments were allegedly "void" under CR 60(b)(5). (CP 66-73) Specifically, she argued that the trial court

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